
M o a t e d  S i t e  N e a r  M o a t  F a r m ,  H o o k w o o d ,  
C h a r l w o o d

by D .J . TURNE R

SUMMARY

E xc avations  in 1963 and 1965 in advance  of antic ipated d e s truc tion by plough-
ing of the  moated e nc los ure  produced evidenc e  of s hort- live d  occupation 
from  the la te  13th to m id - 14th c entury. The s le e p e r w a lls  of a building  
loc ated at the north - e a s t c orne r of the is land  had been d is turbed by plough-
ing and the main re s u lt of the exc avation was  the re c o ve ry of a c orpus  of 
p otte ry with an arguab ly re s tric te d  date  range . The s ite  has  no c e rta in  
m e die va l documented h is to ry but te nta tive  infe re nc e s  a re  made from  the  
pos t m edieva l documentation and topographic a l evidenc e .

BACKGROUND

The Site (Figs. 1,2 & 6)
A 'hom estead m oat', lis te d  by VCH ( 4 ,399)  a s  a  ne a rly c irc u la r e nc los ure  of 
approxim a te ly V5A ( 0 .1 ha), la y on the edge of a te rra c e  overlooking  the  
R ive r Mole a t approxim ate ly 53 m OD (NGR TQ 266447)  150 m from  the  
m odern fa rm  c a lled  Moat F a rm . The moat was  lis te d  by the SCC (1965)  a s  
an antiquity but has  not been s cheduled under the Anc ient Monuments  Ac ts .

Ae ria l photographs  (Ae rofilm s  S7259260)  and fie ld  vis its  showed the  
e nc los ure  to be roughly tra p e zo id a l and to have  a  we ll m arked ditch on a ll 
but the south s ide . The s hort w e s te rn a rm  of the moat was  divided into two 
s e c tions  by a  c aus eway. W a te r was  held in both s e c tions  of this  a rm  a s  a  
re s u lt of p a rtia l infilling  but, a s  the s ite  s lope s  downwards  s lig htly from  
wes t to e a s t, the ditch s ys te m , when c le a r, may not have  held wa te r in its  
e ntire ty without inte rm e d ia te  s lu ic e s , fo r the e xis te nc e  of which, howe ver, 
the re  re m a ins  no d ire c t evidenc e . Upcas t from  the d itc he s  had been used  
to c ons truc t an oute r bank to the e a s te rn  ditch and the re  a re  s igns  on the  
a e ria l photographs  of a  p os s ib le  le a t running along the edge of the te rra c e  
from  a point we ll up s tre am  to the  e a s te rn  a rm  of the moat. The s ite  is  
bounded on the e a s t by the flood p la in of the rive r.

The le ve l of the c auseway a c ro s s  the we s te rn a rm  of the moat was  be low  
that of the land on e ithe r s ide  but this  may have  been the re s u lt of e ro s ion. 
The ditch to the south s ide  of the e nc los ure , between the e nc los ure  and



Fig . 1 L ocation of Site . 1 Kinne rs le y M anor; 2 Gatwick; 3 B onehurs t;
4 Crutc hfie ld ; 5 B ushes ; 6 Court Lodge; 7 H orley Lodge; 8 Dux-  
hurs t; 9 Hopps; 10 Hookwood. (See a ls o  F ig . 6 )



higher ground, was  only of s ha llow p ro file  in 19 6 2 ,probab ly a s  a  re s u lt of 
d e lib e ra te  infilling  a t som e tim e  b e fore  1870 a s  the ditch is  not shown on 
the 1s t edition of the 6 - inc h OS plan (Fig. 6ti) .

Adjac ent to the s outh-we s t c orne r of the main e nc los ure  we re  two i ll -  
defined s ub s id ia ry e nc lo s ure s  m arked by ploughed-out d itc he s  m ore  c le a rly  
vis ib le  on the a e ria l photographs  than on the ground (Fig. 2). The p re s e nc e  
of s ub s id ia ry e nc los ure s  may be c ons idered  ind ic a tive  of the orig ina l s ta tus  
of the s ite  and could sugges t a s ubs tantia l holding. The a e ria l photographs  
a ls o  show tra c e s  of what appear to be b loc ks  of ploughed-out ridg e  and 
furro w  north- w e s t of the s ite .

A re s is tivity  s urve y of the main e nc los ure  undertaken by M r A. J .  Cla rk , 
FSA, proved  unhelpful be c aus e  of the uneven d is tribution of ground wa te r 
and the p re s e nc e  of nodular irons tone .

The s ite , inc luding the p la tform  of the main e nc los ure , was  being grazed  but 
had been ploughed b e fore  1961 and the d itc he s  we re  being fille d  in to fa c ili -
ta te  fa rm ing . Since 1965 the we s te rn s e c tions  of the moat have  been c om -
p le te ly fille d  in, the northe rn and e a s te rn  s e c tions  have  been p a rtly fille d  
and the s ite  hais again been ploughed.

T opography and Geology

The te rra c e  on which the s ite  s tands , although s light, is  the dominant one in 
the vic inity and d e rive s  from  an e a rly  p e riod  in the his tory of the M ole. 
The te rra c e  ris e s  from  approxim a te ly 51 m (170 ft)  OD at B etc hworth, to 
54 m (180 ft)  OD at H orley and 60 m (200 ft)  OD at the S u rfe y- Su s s e x  
b ord e r (Green et a l. 1934) .

B e low Meath Green the Mole runs  in a channel about 3 m deep and about 
6 m wide on a notic eable  flood -p la in up to 50 m wide between the te rra c e s . 
As  a c ons equenc e ,flooding is  norm a lly re s tric te d  and the land beyond the  
flood -p la in is  b e tte r dra ined than the flood -p la in its e lf. The s ite  a t Moat 
F a rm  was  plac ed  to utilis e  this  a s , appa re ntly, was  the ne arby m anor of 
Kinne rs le y (Fig. 1) , which is  of m ed ieva l orig in but which appe ars  not to 
have  been moated.

The s ub - s o il is  Wealden Clay with nodular irons tone  (E dmunds 1948 ,25 )  
which was  re ac hed  in a ll tre nc he s  opened. The only s o il developed on the  
s ite  was  ploughsoil which va rie d  from  0. 25 to 0. 45 m in depth.

Doc um entary E vidence

Charlwood m anor was  held by the p rio rs  of Chris tc hurc h, Ca nte rbury, down 
to the Dis solution and was  granted to S ir Robe rt Southwell in 1539. At that 
tim e  it may have  been le a s e d  to Henry de la  Hay who quitc la im ed to 
Southwell in 1542. Southwell a lienated  to S ir Henry L echford  in 1547 and



the m anor s tayed  in the L ec hford  fa m ily until 1625 when it was  conveyed  
to E dmund Jord a n of Gatwick, Shir e m a rk and Hook (VCH 3 ,18 4 - 5 ) .

The h is to ry of the a re a  north of Gatwick and Hook is  confused and i ll-  
documented. The reputed m anor o r s ub -m anor of E rbridge , firs t mentioned  
in 1539 (M & B, 2 ,199 )  and s a id  to have  been held a s  a m em ber of Charlwood  
m anor, is  a lleged  to have  had lands  in both H orley and Charlwood p a ris he s . 
Ac c ording  to M rs  Lane (1958, 33)  it ra n from  B onehurs t, e a s t of the Mole, 
to Crutc hfie ld , we s t of the M ole , and inc luded B arnlands  and B ushes  an s  
inc luded the s ite  under c ons idera tion. B arnlands  and B ushes  a re  in a  
detached portion of Charlwood p a ris h  that is  enc los ed  on thre e  s id e s  by 
H orley p a ris h  and bounded on the we s t by L e igh. In 1539 the m anors  of 
H orley and Charlwood both came into the p os s e s s ion of S ir Robert Southwell 
and the re  may have  been some re d is trib ution of lands  between m anors  ove r 
the succ eeding five  ye a rs  a s  Southwell sold them to other m agnate s . South-  
we ll sold E rbridge  to S ir Henry L ec hford  of Charlwood but it pa s s e d  to 
Ric hard  Bonwick of H orley and its  s e p a ra te  de s c ent to Charlwood m anor is  
re c ord e d  by Se will and Lane ( 1951, 211)  until it c ame back into the owne r-
ship of the m anor of Charlwood, te m p o ra rily, in 1756.

The s ite  under c ons idera tion lie s  on the p ro p e rty known in the 16th and 17th 
c e nturie s , when it can fi rs t be  identified  with c e rta inty in the documents , a s  
B arnlands  o r B arne lands  (Sewill and Lane 19 5 1,9 1 and 95, where  B arnlands  
its e lf is  in c o rre c tly d e s c rib e d  a s  s tanding within the moat) . B arnlands  
s tood ne a r the p re s e nt Moat F a rm , approxim a te ly 200 m s outh- we s t of the  
s ite , and a b a rn s urvive s  the re  which da te s  from  the 18th c entury, if not 
e a rlie r. In 1550, B arnlands  was  inherited  by John B ris towe  from  his  fa the r 
Ric hard . The re nt a t this  tim e  was  8 s  l 1/2d.

B ris towe s  s ti ll held B arnlands  a t the tim e  of the 1593 L ay Subs idy re turns  
and another John B ris towe , re c to r of Charlwood from  1615 to 1637, is  s aid  
to have been brought up the re  (Sewill and Lane 1951, 95) . H owever, Thomas  
C a ryll inherited  B arnlands  in 1670 from  John C a ryll, a t which tim e  the p ro -
p e rty was  60A (24 ha) in extent. A lis t of annual quit re nts  in the m anor of 
Charlwood, of c 1690, shows  B arnlands  held by the ironm a s te r T homas  
Ca ryll with Wykeland (Court R o lls , ab s tra c te d  by M rs  E .L ane  and M rs  R. 
Se w ill; Se w ill & Lane 19 5 1,p a s s im ) . A drawing of 1741 by T .R e d ford  taken 
from  a s urve y of 1691 by Abraham  W a lle r of the  lands  of T homas  K irre ll 
(Kent Rec ord  Offic e  U. 1350)  shows  the p ro p e rty a nd ,p re s um a b ly, the C a ryll 
fa m ily of B arnlands  can be equated with the K e rre lls  who p os s e s s e d  a s hare  
of H orley Lodge from  the la te  16th c entury and who, appare ntly, subsequently 
added to the ir holding. Inte re s ting ly, the 1691/ 1741 map appe ars  to show 
that the re  was  no house a t B arnlands  a t this  tim e . Rocque c le a rly  shows  
buildings  a t this  point again by the la te  18th c entury.

Map evidenc e  shows that the s ite  was  c ro s s e d  in the 18th and 19th c e nturie s  
by the tra c kwa y from  Meath Green to L e dg e rs  F a rm  and Duxhurs t which 
pas s e d  c lo s e  to the south ditc h of the main e nc los ure  and may have  re s ulte d  
in the filling  of this  fe a ture . The line  of the tra c kwa y, m arked  by Rocque  
and on the 1s t edition 1- inc h OS map, is  d is c e rnib le  on the a e ria l photograph
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and, in p a rt, on the ground. Its  s uc c e s s o r, a  public  footpath, re m a ins  in 
oc c a s iona l use  to -da y. The s ite  was  wooded until a fte r 1820 but the wood 
had been fe lle d  by the tim e  of the 1s t edition 6 - inc h OS map (c 1870) . The 
name B arnlands  s urvive d  until a t le a s t 1930 (6 - inc h OS map).

E XCAVATION

Two s e a s ons , in 1963 and 1965, of two weeks  each with a s m a ll volunte e r 
labour fo rc e , we re  a ll that could be a rra ng e d  in the fa c e  of the thre a t of 
de s truc tion. T his  only a llowed the p a rtia l exc avation of the main e nc los ure .

Two line s  of tre nc he s  we re  cut p e rp e nd ic ula rly to each other a c ro s s  the  
s ite  (Fig. 2) and the e a s te rn  a rm  of the moat was  s ec tioned (Fig. 3). A few  
s he rd s  of p otte ry we re  found and one sha llow, s tone -pac ked, p os t- ho le . A 
trenc h cut in the north - e a s t c o rne r of the e nc los ure , however, produced a  
c ons iderab le  quantity of p otte ry and furthe r excavation in this  a re a  exposed  
the re m a ins  of unm orta red  s tone footing s ,p re s um a b ly of tim b e r- fra m e d  
w a lls  of a s truc ture  approxim ate ly 9 m (33 ft)  x 4. 7 m (16 ft)  with an in te r-
nal p a rtition dividing it into approxim ate ly equal portions  (Fig. 4). Ploughing  
had, however, le ft ins uffic ie nt of the s e  fe a ture s  fo r s a tis fa c to ry in te rp re ta -
tion and had rem oved  a ll s tra tific a tio n. T here  was  no tra c e  of a  p ro p e rly  
c ons truc ted  hearth.

The s tone footings  had been packed with broken roofing  tile s  and it is  p os -
s ib le  that tile s  had o rig ina lly been wedged in pos ition to p rovide  a le ve l 
bas e  fo r the c ill beam s  of a b ox- fra m e  building. Quantities  of tile  ove r this  
p a rt of the s ite  im plied that the building had had a tile d  roof.

The s truc ture  appe ars  to re s e m b le  the s e rvic e  end of a ha ll-hous e  but this  
hypothes is  would re q uire  a ha ll of some 9 m (33 ft)  span im m ed ia te ly wes t 
of the s truc ture  exc avated . The footings , though dis turbed, would s eem  to 
have been too flim s y fo r a s truc ture  of this  s ize  and the re  was , in fa c t, no 
tra c e  of wa lls  running we s twards  from  the exc avated  a re a . F urthe rm ore , 
in the Weald, the span of tim b e r- fra m e d  houses  s e e m s  to be lim ited  to 
about 6 m by the s ize  of the tim b e r fo r tie  be am s . T here  is  re a s on, th e re -
fo re , to conc lude that the building was  fre e s ta nd ing . The apparent abs ence  
of a he arth sugges ts  that the re  mus t o rig ina lly have been a t le a s t one other 
building on the s ite  and p os s ib ly two—a ha ll and kitchen. The building  
exc avated  can be inte rp re te d  a s  a cham ber o r s e rvic e - b lo c k  s inc e  the  
quantity of p otte ry found in its  vic inity ind ic a te s  a dom es tic  purpos e .
B a rns , s ta b le s , e tc . would probab ly have stood within one of the a nc illa ry  
e nc los ure s . The c los e  p roxim ity of the building to the moat edge would 
s e em  to rule  out the p o s s ib ility of a pa lis a de  within the ditch, even when 
a llowanc e  fo r a m oa t- s id e  c ollap s e  is  made.

P otte ry found (Appendix 1) ind ic a te s  a  na rrow  date  range  fo r the occupation 
from  the la te  13th to m id - 14th c e nturie s .



•  Fel bridge 

Cuttinglye

Fig . 5 Connec tions  between Wealden holdings  and m anors  outs ide  the  
Weald ( a fte r Dr G. P . Moss )



DISCUSSION

The s ite  under c ons ideration cannot c e rta in ly be identified  from  the pub lis h-
ed h is to rie s  of Charlwood and H orley. H owever, the L ay Subs idy Return of 
1332 contains  many Ta tte T and Td e f nam es  that cannot to -da y be given a 
topographic a l identity (Sewill and Lane 19 5 1,2 2 - 3 )  and the moat in ques tion 
may have  belonged to one of the s e  men,

The c la s s ic  explanation of the e a rlie s t m ed ieva l s e ttle m e nt of the Weald is  
that it was  fo r pannage fo r p ig s . Dr G. P . M os s  has  dem ons trated  that the  
links  between Wealden holdings  in the H orley-Charlwood a re a  (Fig. 5 a fte r 
M oss  1973, fig . 3) show how the o ld e r m anors  to the north s e ttle d  the Weald  
p ie c e m e a l. Initia lly, the main demand may indeed have been fo r pannage, 
probably on a s e a s ona l b a s is , but eventua lly this  te m p ora ry occupation b e -
came m ore  perm anent, e ithe r in o rd e r to re ta in  a p re s e nc e  throughout the 
ye a r o r to s e rvic e  loc a l ind us trie s  such a s  iron-working  o r c ha rc oa l b urn-
ing. T here  is  evidenc e  fo r s e ttle m e nt in H orley, Charlwood & B urs tow from  
b e fore  the tim e  of the Conquest but none of the s e  p la c e s  was  mentioned in 
the Domesday Surve y. They may orig ina lly have  form ed p a rt of a la rg e  
e s ta te  known in the 10th c entury a s  T hunders fie ld  (Moss  19 7 3 ,pa s s im ) .
The m edieva l re c o rd s  show that Charlwood was  linked to M ers tham  (VCH 3, 
184, 214)  while  H orley was  linked to Sutton and Coulsdon (Lane 19 6 0 ,15 , and 
M oss  19.73,p a s s im , c iting E .T om s  193 5 ,29 7 ,6 32  and 674) . By the 12th 
c entury the eponymous nuc leated villa g e s  of Charlwood and H orley had 
become e s tab lis hed  on a broad  a g ric u ltura l b a s is , e ac h with its  own c hurc h. 
By the 13th c entury the a re a  of s e ttle m e nt was  being expanded into the  
fo re s t. The dens ity of moated s ite s  in the vic inity (Fig. 1) may be s een a s  
evidence  fo r this  movement a s  it can on c lay lands  e ls e w he re  in the lowland  
zone ( e .g .R ob e rts  1965 and 1968) . Not a ll the fa rm s  that may have been 
e s tab lis hed  a t this  tim e , howe ver, show evidenc e  of having been moated and 
it is  becoming inc re a s ing ly re a lis e d  that the only d is tinc tion between a  
moated m edieva l fa rm  and an un-m oated m edieva l fa rm  may be the moat: 
in a ll othe r re s p e c ts  the range  of fa c ilitie s  p os s e s s e d  could have been the 
s am e. The p re s e nc e  of a moat has  a llowed the identific a tion and, in some  
c a s e s , ensured  the p re s e rva tio n  of a d e s e rte d  s ite : the number of d e s e rte d  
un-moated s ite s  cannot be gues s ed and, in fa c t, ve ry few have  s urvive d  
s uffic ie ntly to have been identified . To this  extent, our view of the m edieva l 
s e ttlem ent pa tte rn on c lay lands  mus t inevitab ly be a d is torte d  one.

Atkinson (1972)  and T a ylor (1972)  have  argued that the c ons truc tion of moats  
re fle c te d  the fa shion of a s oc ia l group and cannot be a s c rib e d  to any p a rti-
c ula r m a te ria l func tion. R obe rts  (1965)  c ons idered  that two broad s oc ia l 
groupings  could be identified  among m oat-build e r s . F irs tly , som e moats  
a re  a s s oc ia te d  with the lo rd s  and the ir we a lthie r s ub - tenants , us ua lly of 
knightly s ta tus . Sec ondly, a c la s s  of wea lthy fre e  tenants , g e ne ra lly holding  
land in a re a s  of la te  c olonis ation, a ls o  built m oats . The typology of moats  
a s  they s urvive  to - d a y, howe ver, g ive s  little  indic ation of the grouping of 
the ir founders  ac c ord ing  to this  s oc ia l d ivis ion.



Fig . 6 The Vic inity of the Site

A R e lic t fe a ture s —moat, le a t, ridge  and furro w . (P a ris h boun-
d a ry shown by broken chain.)

B 1691. F or Key to fie ld  num bers  s e e  table  on p. 69

C 1842

D c l868



The s ite  a t Moat F a rm  had weakly de m arc ated  a n c illa ry e nc lo s ure s  and its  
moat was  ha rd ly like ly to d e te r a  de term ined  a tta c ke r. It fits  we ll into the  
pos tulated c la s s  of fa s hionab le  m oats . The p re s e nc e  of a n c illa ry e nc lo s ure s  
may im ply a holding of some subs tanc e .

It has  long been re c ognis e d  that economic  trend s  we re  s ha rp ly re ve rs e d  in 
the 14th c entury and s tagnation, de c line  and decay in va rying  d e g re e s  b e -
came wide s pread . The d ra s tic  fa ll in population following the B lac k Death 
(at its  height in Surre y in 1349)  and its  re c u rre n t vis ita tions  e xa c e rb a te d  an 
economic  de c line  that had a lre a d y begun. In s e ve ra l countie s  many d e s e rte d  
and shrunken villa g e s  can date  the ir dec line  to this  pe riod  and is ola te d  
fa rm s  must a ls o  have  s uffe re d . Some, inc luding moated e xam ple s , bec am e  
d e s e rte d  a t this  tim e .

Sewill and Lane ( 1951, 27) s a id  that many of the fa m ilie s  named in the L ay 
Subsidy Return of 1332 had ’died out’ by the second half of the c entury.
They we re  p re s um a b ly re fe rrin g  to the ir s tudy of the Charlwood c ourt 
ro lls  which have  s urvive d  in p a rt from  1365 (ibid, 31) . Although the B lac k  
Death cannot c e rta in ly be c ited a s  the c ause  of d e s e rtion of the  s ite  at Moat 
F a rm , the p otte ry found does  sugges t that abandonment took p la c e  around the  
middle  of the 14th c entury .

When the p ro p e rty on which the moat is  s ituated em erged  from  obs c urity 
into the re c o rd s  a s  B arnlands  in the 16th c entury it was  a s s oc ia te d  with 
Crutc hfie ld ,B us he s  and Wyke lands . Lane ( 1958,33)  c la im ed that Crutc hfie ld , 
B ushes  and B arnlands  w e re  p a rt of the s ub -m anor of E rbridg e . Both Crutc h-
fie ld  and B arnlands  we re  held by bra nc he s  of the B ris towe  fa m ily. Se will 
and L ane ’ s  inform ation about B arnlands  in 1550 ( 1951, 91)  appe ars  to d e rive  
from  the c ourt ro lls  of Charlwood ( three  ye a rs  a fte r the s a le  of E rbridge )  
and in the la te  17th c entury B arnlands  appe ars  in a Charlwood manor re nta l 
(M rs  L ane ’s  a b s tra c ts ) . M rs  Lane quoted no evidenc e  fo r he r s ta tem ent that 
B arnlands  was  p a rt of E rbridge  m anor and, fo r the p re s e nt a t le a s t, it may 
be a s  we ll to re je c t the sugges tion. M rs  Lane ( 1958,33)  c la im ed that 
E rbridge  a ls o  inc luded H opps ,a  fa rm  in the main portion of Charlwood  
p a ris h  im m edia te ly south of Crutc hfie ld . H owever, Hopps s e e m s  to have  
been p a rt of the Hook p rop e rty a s  it was  bequeathed by Jord a ns  of Gatwick 
in 1552 (Sewill and L ane 1951,201) .

The e a rlie s t known re fe re nc e s  to B arnlands  and Hopps is  from  1550 and 
1552 and to B ushes  from  the 17th c entury (ibid, 91)  but a de Cruc he ffe ld  
name appe ars  in the Charlwood L ay Subs idy Return of 1332 and the p la c e -  
name inc ludes  the a rguab ly e a rly - fe ld  e lem ent. Hopps, B ushes  and B arnlands  
have the appearanc e  of be ing c om p ara tive ly modern name fo rm s .

Wyke lands , he ld by T homas  C a ry ll in 1690, may be  the s am e  a s  the ’m a nor’ 
of Wykes , Wykeland or Weekland (VCH 3 ,18 6 ; Sewe ll & Lane 19 5 1,3 4 , 57, 67 
and 105)  which wa s , in the la te  15th c entury, a p a rc e l of the m anor of 
Gatwick. 

F ie ld s  im m edia te ly north - e a s t of B arnlands  a re  named a s  Gre a t Wick F ie ld , 
Middle Wick F ie ld  and L ittle  Wick Meadow on the T ithe Map and it can be



questioned whether the s e  we re  the Wyke lands  held by the C a ry lls . T here  
was  a b a rn, a t le a s t, ad jac ent to the s e  fie ld s  in 1691 and 1842.

The moated s ite  appe ars , from  the a e ria l photograph p re vious ly noted, to be  
a s s oc ia te d  with re lic t tra c e s  of broad  ridge  and furro w  (Fig. 6A). However, 
this  ridge  and furro w  can arguab ly be a s c rib e d  to the p os t- m e d ie va l pe riod .

That the a re a  around B arnlands  was  c ove re d  by hedge - enc los ed  fie ld s  
b e fore  1691 can be  s e en from  the drawing of 1741 by T .Red ford  taken from  
the s urve y of 1691 by Abraham  W a lle r of the lands  of T homas  K irre ll (Kent 
Rec ord  Offic e  U. 1350) . T his  is  he re  re - d ra w n (Fig. 6B) on the b a s is  of the  
a e ria l photograph and it can be s een that the 17th c entury fie ld s  of Gre a t 
L odgers  and Six Ac re s  c orre s pond  to one block of ridge  and furrow , F urthe r 
High Ash F ie ld  another and Gre a t and L ittle  High Ash F ie ld s  a  third . The 
e nc los ure  of the s e  fie ld s  probab ly p re - d a te d  the form ation of the ridge  and 
furro w  but this  could p os s ib ly be te s ted  by exc avation. The nam es  Gre a t 
and L ittle  L odg ers  sugges t that the s e  fie ld s  w e re  linked in some way to 
L e dgers  (once L odgers )  F a rm , im m edia te ly to the we s t in H orley p a ris h  
and p a rt of Duxhurs t m anor. (See a ls o  Appendix 3).

The 1842 Charlwood tithe  map has  a ls o  been re - d ra w n on the b a s is  of the  
a e ria l photograph (Fig. 6C) and the following c om paris on between the 1691 
s urve y and the T ithe Map shows  the extent to which fie ld  nam es  changed:

1691 Surve y
A. R. P.

1842 T ithe Map

1* High Ash F ie ld 4 .2 .3 8 T hree  Corne re d  F ie ld
2* Gre a t High Ash F ie ld 10 .1.0 6 Gre a t Ash
3* L ittle  High Ash F ie ld 2 .2 .3 0 High Ash
4* F urthe r High Ash F ie ld 6 .0 .3 0 F urthe r High Ash
5* L ittle . L odgers 2 .3 .0 5 L ittle  L odges
6 * Gre a t L odgers 4. 2. 32 P it F ie ld
7* Six Ac re s 6 .3 .3 8 Seven Ac re s
8 * P e a rtre e  F ie ld 4 .2 .0 0 P e a rtre e  F ie ld
9* Hovel F ie ld 5 .0 .2 0 Pea t F ie ld

10* B arnland Bank & Pond 1 . 1. 10
11*  B arnland P la t 0 .3 .2 9
12* B arnland Grove 5 .2 .16 Grove
13* B arnland Meadow 6 .3 .0 0 L eg Mead
14 Long Croft 5 .2 .2 0 Long Croft
15 B ridge  F ie ld 3 .3 .14 T hree  Ac re s
16 Pea t Croft 5 .2 .0 0 Hop Garden
17 B a rn F ie ld 7 .2 .0 0 L ittle  Wick Meadow
18 Gre a t Week F ie ld 13 .1.0 0 Gre a t Wick F ie ld

* F ie ld s  probab ly making up B arnlands  (60A) in 1670. T hese  fie ld s  tota l 62A 
2R 14P  inc luding B arnlands  Bank & Pond and B arnland P la t o r 60A 1R 15P  
without them.

Note The num bers  on the le ft re la te  to F ig . 6B



70 Moated Site Near Moat Farm , Hookwood, Charlwood 

CONCLUSIONS

The s ite  a t Moat F a rm  probab ly had its  orig ins  in 13th c entury c olonis ation 
by a s s a rting  and may have  fa lle n  a vic tim  to the economic  de c line  of the  
e a rly 14th c entury o r of the B lac k Death.

It is  tempting to equate the moated s ite  with the m edieva l Wyke s , Wykland  
or Weekland on the b a s is  of fie ld - na m e  evidenc e  but this  appe ars  too 
tenuous a t p re s e nt to ac c ept. E qually re s is tib le  is  the tem ptation to equate  
the s ite  with a m ed ieva l E rbridg e . F urthe r re s e a rc h  into the h is to ry of 
Charlwood—pre c ede d , pos s ib ly, by the public ation of the m a noria l re c o rd s — 
may eventua lly enable  the prob le m  to be s olved .

Of the fa rm s  in the vic in ity of the s ite , Crutc hfie ld  is  the only one that 
makes  an e a rly  appearanc e  in the documents  and, of the o the rs , only 
B arnlands , with its  moated s ite , has  a c la im  to m edieva l orig in. B arnlands , 
however, is  a  d is tinc tly m odern- sounding name form  and it is  m ore  re a s ona -
b le  to a s s oc ia te  this  with the re - oc c upa tion of the lands  of the abandoned 
and na m e le s s  moated s ite  s om etim e  between 1350 and 1550.

This  re - oc c upation was  ac companied o r followed by the e s tab lis hm ent of 
a s ys te m  of hedged a ra b le  fie ld s .
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APPE NDIX 1—THE POTTE RY (F igs . 7 - 12)

Introduc tion

The p otte ry re c ove re d  cannot be grouped in a meaningful way e ithe r by its  
s tra tific a tion or by its  plan loc ation. Some wide ly s e pa ra te d  s he rd s  have



been found to join. The bulk of the s he rd s  can, however, be divided into four 
main types  of ve s s e l and thre e  p rinc ipa l w a re s .

The four type s  of ve s s e l a re :

Cooking pots  — ve s s e ls  whose mouths we re  c le a rly  s m a lle r than
the ir g irth

J a rs  o r bowls  — ve s s e ls  whose rim s  we re  le s s  than 20 c m s  (8 ins )
d ia m e te r inte rna lly and whose g irth was  little  m ore

Dishes  — ve s s e ls  whose rim s  we re  the wide s t p a rt ( s ide s  may
be oblique, curved o r c a rina ted )

Jugs

Cooking pots  and ja rs  oc c ur in both necked and ne c kle s s  ve rs ions . J a rs  a re  
ve s s e ls  that a re  d is tinc tly d e epe r than bowls  and have a s m a lle r g irth than 
cooking pots  with the s am e  neck d ia m e te r. In many c a s e s , however, it is  
not pos s ib le  to re c ons truc t the p ro file  s uffic ie ntly to be c e rta in which 
c la s s ific a tion app lie s . Other types  we re  only identifiab ly re p re s e nte d  by 
one s k ille t handle , one pos s ib le  lid , one la rg e  re c ta ng ula r dish and one p o s
s ib le  aquamanile  fragm ent. The apparently na rrow range  of ve s s e l fo rm s  
re p re s e nte d , however, may be the re s u lt of the fra g m e nta ry na ture  of the  
m a te ria l.

The p rinc ipa l w a re s  a re :

Reduced g re y wa re

Pink oxidized sandy wares

White , o r ne a r white , c oa rs e  sandy ware

Within 30 km of Moat F a rm  few published s ite s  a fford  good s tra tig ra p hic a l 
evidence  and the re  a re  p os s ib ly thre e  d is tinc t m edieva l p otte ry ’p ro vinc e s ’ . 
Only a tentative  date  can the re fo re  be given to the p otte ry from  the s ite  but 
none of it appe ars  to be e ithe r s ubs tantia lly e a rlie r o r la te r than the firs t  
half of the 14th c entury.

Reduced g re y wa re

Gre y to brown-buff with g re y tones . Medium to c oa rs e  sand fi lle r.  The 
wide c olour range  is  matched by s he rd s  from  the numerous  we ll known 
w a s te r heaps  in the L im ps fie ld  a re a  (P re nderga s t 1973 & 1975)  but s he rd s  
from  L im ps fie ld  have le s s  c oa rs e  sand fi lle r.  Sherds  of this  p otte ry we re  
not numerous  at Moat F a rm  and a ll s he rd s  that can be figured  a re  shown.

1- 4  Necked cooking pots  with le ve l and fla t- fla ng e d  rim s . One s lig htly 
undercut, the othe rs  not.

5 N ec kle s s  cooking pot. Wa ll of ve s s e l thickened be low flange , c f ve s s e l 
74 be low. Sand fi lle r fine r than other reduced ve s s e ls .



A s ourc e  other than L im ps fie ld  fo r m os t of the cooking pots  may be  
sugges ted. The cooking pot rim s  published by P re nd e rg a s t (1975)  from  
L im ps fie ld  s ite s  show a dominance of undercut flange s  and none of the rim s  
from  Moat F a rm  is  c lo s e ly p a ra lle le d . The ne c kle s s  cooking pot (5) does  
not s e em  to be p a ra lle le d  a t a ll from  L im ps fie ld . The fo rm  of the Moat 
F arm  flange s  is  p a ra lle le d  a t Als te d , M ers tham  (Ketteringham  1976) , in 
’hard g re y reduced w a re ’ .

It is  probable  that, in E a s t S urre y, the necked form  of cooking pot was  
e a rlie r than the ne c kle s s  fo rm  but a  lengthy ove rla p  can be a s sum ed until 
c ontra ry evidenc e  is  forthc om ing.

Rigold ( 1972 ,164 - 6 ) , d is c us s ing  the p otte ry from  E yns ford  where  L im ps fie ld  
ware  was  riot—c ontra ry to e a rly  inte rim  re p o rts —c e rta in ly identified , s tated  
’the fla t flange  without any upper b e ve l [ is ]  a fa shion s een around 1300 in 
p otte ry o ve r a wide a re a ’ . At E yns ford the context of the fla t flanged rim s  
was  arguab ly c 1260- c  1312 (Phas e s  B to D) but the te rm ina l date  of 1312  
marked the virtua l end of the p otte ry s e rie s  a t that s ite  and is  not to be  
taken a s  a te rm ina l date  fo r the fla t flanged rim .

7 Dish of le s s  we ll fire d  wa re  than the other reduc ed wa re  ve s s e ls . Grey 
body with g re y- b rown s urfa c e . Sherds  of a s im ila r but thic ke r ve s s e l 
with applied s trip  de c ora tion.

The dish from  Moat F a rm  with its  undercut flange  can be com pared with 
dis he s  published from  L im ps fie ld  which do not appear, however, to have  
undercut fla ng e s . It s hould ,pe rha p s ,b e  noted that a s m a ll p roportion of the  
potte ry re c ove re d  from  the B ushfie ld  Shaw kiln s ite  (T urne r 1975) , le s s  than 
5 km dis tant, was  reduc ed and the ve s s e l and rim  fo rm s  under d is c us s ion  
we re  a ll p a ra lle le d  at that s ite .

8 Slashed s tra p  handle from  la rg e  jug of pa le  g re y sandy wa re  with brown 
tones . From  fi ll of moat. Jugs  of this  fo rm  have  us ua lly been a s c rib e d  
to the 13th c entury ( e .g .H urs t 19 6 2 ,fig . 71:2 and 71:3 ; London Museum  
19 5 4 ,pi. lx ii: 3) . Unglazed jugs  with s la s he d  handles  have been found
a t L im ps fie ld  (P re nd e rg a s t 1975)  but the jug handles  in ’hard g re y’ 
wa re  a t Als te d  we re  stabbed—a tre a tm e nt a ls o  known from  L im ps fie ld .

9 Rim of la rg e  jug of buff-brown wa re  with g re y c ore . Sandy fa b ric , pos -
s ib ly L im ps fie ld .

Pink oxid ized  sandy w a re s

The fa b ric s  range  from  bright pink to dull g re y- p ink and the sand fi lle r 
va rie s  from  fre e  and c oa rs e  to s p a rs e  and fine  with fre e , medium sand fi lle r 
predom inating.

T here  is  a  s teady gradation of c olour and fi lle r and s urfa c e s  a re  s om etim es  
notic eably smooth. All the s e  c ha ra c te ris tic s  a re  shared  by p otte ry from  
the kiln a t B ushfie ld  Shaw, ne a r E arlswood (T urner 1975) , and by p otte ry  
re c ove re d  from  Als te d , M ers tham  (Ketteringham  1976) . Cooking pots  and
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bowls  predom inate . Sherds  of this  wa re  we re  num erous  and le s s  than half 
the rim  s he rd s  have been figured .

10 E ve rted  neck with pla in rim . P oor c le a r g laze  inte rna lly and s m oke -  
blackened e xte rna lly. P inky-brown, s k in- like  s urfa c e  on pink sandy 
body.

An identic a l fo rm  is  illus tra te d  from  L eadenhall M arke t (London Museum  
1954, fig . 74) with two elbow handles  im ita ting  m eta l c auldrons  and a s c rib e d  
to the 14th c entury. The L eadenhall M arke t ve s s e l is  in buff fa b ric  but 
e lbow handles  in oxidized ware  we re  found a t the B ushfie ld  Shaw kiln and 
the s am e form  in a re la te d  b uff- s urfa c e d  pink fa b ric  is  re c ord e d  from  
Als te d  (Ketteringham  1976, ve s s e ls  80 and 8 6 ). Ve s s e ls  of s im ila r p ro file , 
but unglazed and without ha nd le s ,a re  we ll known in e a rlie r fa b ric s .

11 and 12 Sim ple  tria ng ula r rim m ed ve s s e ls . 12 is  a s tra ig ht necked cook-
ing pot o r s k ille t (cf Kette ringham  1976, ve s s e l 84) .

The s im ple  tria ng ula r rim  with a fla t top is  found wide ly in Kent and Surre y, 
e .g . E yns ford  (Rigold 1972, ve s s e ls  D 4,D 5,D 6,D 8 and D9); E ffingham, L ee  
Wood, in a sandy s h e ll- fille d  fa b ric  (L owther 1955, ve s s e l 11) ; Ashtead  kiln  
( F re re  1941, ve s s e ls  6 , 7, 22) ; Cars ha lton, Queens We ll, on a s h e ll- fille d  
wa re  (T urner 1970b, ve s s e l 11) ; and M erton P rio ry , on reduc ed wa re  
(T urner 1967, ve s s e l 91) . The p a ra lle l from  E ffingham in an e a rly  ( ?) 
fa b ric  was  a s c rib e d  to c 1200 by L owther but such a s im ple  form  could be  
expec ted to have a long life . At E yns ford the rim s  we re  in an e a rly  14th 
c entury context and we re  abs ent from  e a rlie r la ye rs .

13 L e ve l and fla t- fla ng e d  rim , s lig htly undercut and fa c e tted  on the outer 
edge. P robab ly from  a necked cooking pot. c f Als te d , ve s s e l 57.

14 Stubby, s quared flanged rim , s lig htly b e ve lled  inte rna lly, on an inward  
s loping neck.

P a ra lle le d  by a le s s  s q ua re d - off rim  in g ritty ,b ric k - re d  wa re  a t Ashtead  
kiln ( F re re  1941, ve s s e l l) ;a t Cars ha lton in a reduc ed fa b ric  from  an 
arguab ly la te  13th c entury pit (T urner 1970b, ve s s e l 2); and, a ls o  at 
Cars ha lton, in p os s ib ly L im ps fie ld  ware  (ibid, ve s s e l 18) . S im ila r rim s  
with some s he ll filling  we re  found at E yns ford  (Rigold 1972, ve s s e ls  B 17  
and B20) s tra tifie d 'b e fo re  the 14th c entury.

15 Coa rs e  sandy wa re  with some gra ins  up to 2 mm dia . Pink s urfa c e s  
with g re y c ore .

16 Undercut flange  on a thickened neck.

17 Sim ple , le ve l and fla t- fla ng e d  rim s  on ja r. The p la in re c ta ng ula r 
flange  is  s im ila r to ve s s e l 4 above .

18 Downturned and undercut, squared flanged rim  on a s m a ll ja r o r cobking 
pot. Dark g re y s urfa c e s .

19 T ria ng ula r rim , s im ila r to 11 and 12 above , bn d ish.



20 Angular, downturned, flanged rim  on la rg e  d ia m e te r dish.

21 Weak flange  above thickened wa ll on bowl.

22- 35  B road flanged bowl o r dish rim s , squared  o r rounded outs ide , us ua lly  
undercut and with a s m a ll but we ll defined beading on the inner m argin. 
Flange s  a re  le ve l ( 22 - 26 ) ,downbent (27- 32)  o r s loping upwards  ( 33- 35) .

S im ila r d is he s  in ’ sandy wa re  with fre e  adm ixture  of white  s h e ll’ and in 
’fine  sandy wa re  with smoothed, s lig htly ha rs h s urfa c e ’ we re  found at 
Joydens  Wood ,B exley (G.C. Dunning in T e s te r and Ca ig e r 1958, fig . 5: 
10 - 12 ) ; in s andy wa re  a t E yns ford  in the e a rly  14th c entury le ve l (Rigold 
1972, ve s s e ls  D 21- 35)  and, on a c a rina ted  dish of pink oxidized fa b ric , a t 
Cars ha lton (T urner 1970b , ve s s e l 23) . Not w e ll p a ra lle le d  a t the Ashtead  
kiln or a t E ffingham. A few s he rd s  show applied s trip  de c ora tion but the  
proportion is  fa r lowe r than among the s he rd s  from  the B ushfie ld  Shaw 
kiln.

36 Skille t handle in g re y- p ink sandy wa re , c f Als ted  ve s s e l 84 in buff-  
s urfac ed  pink fa b ric .

37 L arge  lid ( ? )  of buff-p ink wa re  with ve ry  fre e  sand fi lle r.  Unc erta in  
d ia m e te r.

38 Corne r of heavy re c ta ng ula r dish of p a rtly oxidized pa le  pink sandy 
wa re . Poor c le a r glaze  in te rn a lly ,fire  blackened e xte rna lly.

39 Rim and neck of thin wa lled  jug of pa le  brown w a re . P os s ib ly of 
b a lus te r fo rm .

40 Rim of jug of dark g re y- s urfa c e d ,p inky- g re y, s andy w a re . Skin- like  
s urfa c e .

41 Jug  of pink wa re  with medium sand te m p e r. White s lip  e xte rna lly and 
patchy gre e n-brown g laze . Slip extends  inte rna lly to approxim a te ly 
2 . 5 cm be low rim .

42 Jug  of p a rtia lly  oxid ized  pa le  pink wa re  with o ve ra ll white  s lip  
e xte rna lly c ove re d  with mottled green g laze . Continuous overlapping  
thumbing round ba s e .

43 Rim , neck and rod handle of a la rg e  pink sandy wa re  jug with o ve ra ll 
white s lip  under mottled green g laze . B a s e  p os s ib ly from  sam e jug.

44 Bulbous  jug of pink sandy wa re  with white s lip  to within 6 cm of the  
continuous ly thumbed b a s e . Stre a ky, mottled green g laze . Rod handle .

45 Sherd of jug of buff s urfa c e d , pinky-buff sandy w a re , g re e n- g la ze d  ove r 
white  s lip . D e c ora tedby deep ve rtic a l combing and s tam ped ro s e tte s  ( ? ) .

46 Two s he rd s  of pink wa re  jug with white  s lip  and thick green g laze .
Deep d iape r inc is ed  de c ora tion.



47 Se ve ra l s he rd s  of pink sandy wa re  jug de c ora ted  with a lte rna te  rows  of 
e longated s c a le s , a lte rna te ly c re a m  o ve r brown and brown ove r c re a m , 
under lead g laze .

48 Sherds  of thin pink o r g re y wa re  jugs  de c ora ted  with e ithe r bands  of 
brown on white  s lip  o r bands  of White s lip  on brown s urfa c e .

49 Sm a ll s he rd  of pink wa re  ve s s e l de c ora ted  with band(s ) and blob(s )  of 
white c lay.

50 Sherds  of pink sandy wa re  de c ora ted  with inc is ed  wave s  and bands of 
white s lip . S im ila r to p otte ry from  the B ushfie ld  Shaw kiln (T urner 
1975) .

51 P a rt of an aquamanile  ( ? )  in bright pink wa re  with white s lip  under 
mottled pa le  gre en g laze .

The jug fa b ric s , with the exception of ve s s e l 40, a re  c lo s e ly p a ra lle le d  at the  
B ushfie ld  Shaw kiln but the de c ora ted  fo rm s  predom inating  the re  we re  ra re  
at Moat F a rm . T his  could be the re s u lt of d iffe re ntia l m arketing  but the  
pre s e nc e  of tria ng ula r rim s  (11 and 12)—absent from  B ushfie ld  Shaw—and 
predom inanc e  of beaded flange s  on the dish rim s  ( 22- 35)—ra re  a t B ushfie ld  
Shaw—and the c om para tive  ra rity  of applied s trip  d e c ora tion may sugges t 
that the Moat F a rm  a s s e m blage  is  a little  la te r than the B ushfie ld  Shaw kiln. 
Rigold ( 1963 ,41)  c la im ed that o ve ra ll White s lip  was  a 14th c entury innova-
tion but Dunning (London Museum 1954, 212 - 3 )  has  c la im ed that continuous ly 
thumbed b a s e s  we re  13th ra the r than 14th c entury. Continuous  thumbing is  
p re s e nt at both Moat F a rm  and B ushfie ld  Shaw.

White , o r ne a r white , c ours e  s andy wa re

F re e ly s a nd - fille d  p otte ry with a ha rrow  range  of c olour from  white to o ff-  
white . Some badly fire d  s he rd s  showing patc he s  of m id - g re y. Glaze , us ua lly 
mottled ye llow to dark g re en, is  p re s e nt on many of the ve s s e ls , e s p e c ia lly  
on the in te rio rs  of d is he s . The wa re  is  s im ila r to some of the s he rd s  from  
a probable  kiln s ite  at Ash^ near Guildford (Holling 1968) , but M r. Rolling  
does  not c ons ide r this  group to be the produc ts  of that kiln (p e rs . comm.) .

52- 55 Rim s  of cooking pot's showing a s im ila r range  to those  of the d is he s  
of the s am e  fa b ric . The s m a lle r- b e a d e d  rim s  a re  found on cooking  
pots  with a s tra ig ht neck developing ( ? )  to a ne c kle s s  ve s s e l With an 
a s ym m e tric  T - ririi. S im ila r rim  forrris  a re  found

56- 61 J a rs  with s lig htly m ore  d e lic a te  T - rim  fo rm s  than those  on the cook-
ing pots . S im ila r ve s s e ls , of off-white  sandy wa re  a s bribe d  to Surre y, 
we re  found a t N ortholt (Hurst 1962, 273 - 4 , fig s . 6 8 : 64 - 71 and 69: 72- 74)  
and dated c 1300 - 1400 .

62- 70  Dish rim s  ranging from  s im ila r to the flanged-and-beaded rim s  of 
the oxidized s e rie s ,b u t with weaker flange s  a lwa ys  down turned ( 62-65) , 
through ve rs io n s  with the dish wa ll thickened be low the inte rna l bead  
( 66- 69) , to rim s  where  the inte rna l bead is  enlarged  to form  a T - shaped



rim and may be deeper than the flange (70). The only close published 
parallels known to the writer are among the pottery from Ash and one 
dish with a clumsy T-rim  from Eynsford (Rigold 1972,D53) arguably 
c 1312. Published dishes of sim ilar fabric from Alsted have flat rim s 
(Ketteringham 1976, v esse ls  107 and 108). (But cf v esse l 20 from  
Effingham, Lee Wood (Lowther 1955).) Unpublished v esse ls  of sim ilar  
form and fabric are known from Horley (Court Lodge Farm: informa­
tion from Dr G. P. Moss) and Reigate (Cliftons Lane: information from  
Mr F. Harvey).

Buff surfaced sandy ware

71-73 Dishes of buff-surfaced sandy ware (Turner 1967, 58-9). 71 has thick 
mottled green glaze with red-brown spots internally and splashes below 
the rim externally. The rim s correspond closely to those of the white 
sandy ware bowls.

At Northolt pottery of this type was given a date of from c 1350 to 1425, 
with a special local reason for the terminal date (Hurst 1962, 274-5), while 
at Merton the present writer argued a date from early 14th century to 
c 1500 (Turner 1967). Although this terminal date must probably now be 
brought back to c 1450-75, there is  no reason to date the bowls from Moat 
Farm much later than c 1350. By the 15th century,flanged rim s may be 
flat or up-turned again (e.g. Turner 1971, vesse l 11).

.M iscellaneous

74 Rim of cooking pot of black surfaced grey ware with coarse sand filler  
(cf Reigate, Turner 1970a, 34-35).

75 Triangular rim of dish of coarse black ware with coarse sand temper. 
Uncertain diameter. Thick (6 mm) sherd of sim ilar ware with heavy 
applied vertical ribbon decoration.

76 Rim of cooking pot of buff-surfaced pale grey sandy ware. Rim moulded 
for lid seating and possibly decorated with a stamp. A sim ilar rim  
seating has been described on a storage jar from Ashtead kiln (Frere 
1941, vesse l 16) in red-brown sandy ware with applied strip decoration.

77 Flanged rim from a dish ( ?) of light grey sandy ware with bright pink 
margins and a duller surface—i.e . red-brown surfaced, grey, sandy 
ware (Turner 1970a, 34). Uncertain diameter, approximately 50 cm.

78 Rim and base of grey ware jug with all over white slip (Merton, Turner 
1967, 56-57, ware (c)), apparently without glaze. Neatly spaced thumbing 
round base.

79 Sherds of jug of pale grey ware with buff surface internally and uniform 
olive glaze externally. Trial decoration of narrow ridges of brown clay.



D iscussion

The complete lack of stratification throws the entire argument onto typology. 
Apart from a few rim s (e.g. 1-5, 75, 77) from a collection of two hundred or 
so, there is little that is  arguably earlier than the end of the 13th century. 
The absence of shell-filled  ware (found on the nearby site at Court Lodge 
Farm, Horley: information from Dr Moss) may be significant but the 
terminus ante quern for shell filling in the Surrey Weald has yet to be deter­
mined—at Eynsford shell filling continues into the 14th century, while at 
Reigate shell filling is  rare even in the early 13th century pottery (Turner 
in Woods 1975). The sm all number of buff surfaced sandy ware sherds and 
the absence of the finer grey-buff ware of the 15th century may be due to 
distributional factors but this pottery reached Horley (Court Lodge Farm) 
and, in the absence of any sherds clearly datable to post 1350, it is sim pler 
to argue that the site—or at least that sm all part of it excavated—became 
deserted c 1350 and that the pottery covers a limited date range from  
c 1275 to c 1350 at the outside.

APPENDK 2—THE NATURAL RESOURCES OF THE AREA 

Water power

The gradient of the Mole is  not greatly different at Moat Farm to that at 
Horley Mill (Green et al 1934, 57) and would probably have been sufficient 
to support a sm all, intermittently-used m ill. The gradient of the stream  
was a significant factor in the siting of early undershot waterm ills in view 
of their inefficiency. Recent cutting and re-cutting of the Mole channel 
nearby has, no doubt, left little trace of any m ill that might have been built 
on its banks in medieval tim es.

Building stone

Building stone is  relatively rare in the Weald. However, timber buildings 
rot quickly if set directly into the soil and the practice of setting the cill 
beam of the timber frame onto a sleeper wall grew up. The date at which 
this concept spread to different areas is not closely known. Paludina and 
the associated Cyrena lim estones occur in a narrow seam which runs from  
Crowhurst to Charlwood and Rusper. These stones, which have resulted in 
the formation of distinct ridges at Norwood Hill and Outwood Common, 
were used for the construction of sleeper walls and represented a useful 
supply of building m aterial after the 16th century (Gulley 1962;Gravett 
1970).

Clay

Wealden Clay was suitable for tile, brick and pottery production and was 
probably exploited from the 13th century onwards. A brick works of



unknown antiquity existed 1 km S near Povey Cross (Sewill and Lane 1951, 
200)1 A medieval pottery kiln on the Wealden Clay near Earlswood was 
excavated in 1974 (Turner 1975).

Iron ore
 century Wealden iron industry (Straker 1931); W orssam 1972) 

was based on outcrops of ironstone which occur just below the Horsham  
stone. Clay-ironstone outcrops as a band in Charlwood parish and this 
source was exploited from the late 14th to 18th century (Sewill and Lane 
1951, 83-92; VCH 3,184; Sheppard' 1888, 420 and 459; M & B 2, 255). No 
direct evidence of iron working in the vicinity of Moat Farm is known to the 
writer but a field to the north of Barnlands was known as Black Acres and 
another nearby was Pit Field at the time of the Tithe Award. Cinderfield 
Cottage at Meathgreen Bridge (TQ 275451) is  listed by Straker as a possible  
bloomery site but recent search has failed to produce any slag there 
(information from Mrs J. Shelley) and the name may not be of any antiquity. 
The Carylls who held Barnlands and Horley Lodge in the 17th century were, 
however, ironm asters and may have exploited the resources of the area.
No evidence of medieval iron working was found on the site.

Timber
Timber was more.abundant in the Weald in medieval tim es than now and was 
used for building, fuel and charcoal making. Timber remained the main 
building material until the la ntury when it was supplanted by brick.

APPENDIX 3: THE RELICT RID URROW AND DEVELOPMENT

erally presumed that broad ridge and furrow im plies medieval or 
early post-m edieval open fields (e.g. Taylor 1974, passim  but c.f. Taylor 
1975,136). However, in the Weald, open fields should only be expected in the 
vicinity, of early settlem ents that developed on nuclear lines. A deed of 1211 
(Sewill & Lane 1951,8-9) im plies that Charlwood village p ossessed  two 
modest open fields, of 28A and 32A and that each field was separately 
cropped on a two-shift rotation. ’Common fie ld s’ are recorded at Bur stow 
and Horley (VCH 3,176; 4,409, 425, 438) and Moss (1973, 21) has taken this 
as additional evidence for the early settlement date of Burstow and Horley.

Brandon (1974, 94-104) has drawn attention to the frequent occurrence, in 
the. Low Weald of Sussex, of a pattern of sm all fields enclosed by shaws of 
up to 10 m (2 rods) in width. Brandon- (1974,123-4) goes so f^r as to 
suggest, for. Sussex, that all land won from the forest in the 12th and 13th 
centuries was individually farmed using shaw-enclosed fields and im plies 
that all traces of open fields belong to an earlier phase of settlement.



Shaw-enclosed fields may be identified in the area around Crutchfield but 
Barnlands and Hopps are surrounded by hedge-enclosed fields,presum ably  
from a later phase of agrarian development.

From the 17th century there was considerable development in Wealden 
farming under the impetus of rising corn prices (the response to the fast 
growing population) and food shortages exacerbated by war. Hooper (1945, 
100-102) has charted the rise  of oatmeal milling in Reigate in the 17th and 
18th century and this must have been accompanied by a growth in cereal 
farming in the surrounding Weald. The first road to be turnpiked in Surrey 
was that from Reigate to Povey Cross via Horse H ills (turnpiked in 1697) 
which passed little more than 1 km from Barnlands.

Under these influences the Weald was transformed from grassland largely 
into arable as farm ers broke up rough pasture and upgraded worn-out 
fields. The extra labour required for arable economy resulted in some new 
cottage building and many farm s were rebuilt or re-fronted. Old en  
were improved by burning, marling or liming.
The extension of tillage has left many relict features and among these the 
imprint of ridge and furrow may be noted. This is  most pronounced on the 
heavier so ils  where ridging into ’lands’ for wheat was the customary 
method of land drainage until superseded by tile-drainage in the 19th 
century. Arthur Young writing in 1813 strongly commended the care taken 
by Sussex farm ers in the preparatory ridging of the ground. Unfortunately, 
the equivalent survey of Surrey (James and Malcolm 1794) is  silent on this 
point. Although narrow ridge and furrow is  rightly regarded as post- 
medieval, it is  not certain that all broad ridge is  medieval and it is probable 
that the relict ridge and furrow visible north of Barnlands on the aerial 
photographs was associated with the 17th or 18th century rather than me
eval farming (Fig. 6A). The system atic mapping of Wealden ridge and 
furrow has yet to be attempted and is urgent in view of the speed with which 
traces are being ploughed out by modern methods. While it is  doubtless 
17th, 18th or even 19th century farming in the main that has left this record, 
the possibility that some is  older cannot be rule

The new fields that resulted from the post-m edieval expansion were quite 
(fistinct from the sm all timber-bound closes originating from ancient 
clearances. The new farming landscape was characterised by larger 
enclosures'bounded by quickset hedges standing on ditched banks which 
began to appear in the Elizabethan period. Instead of occasional ploughing 
by oxen, frequent tillage by horse teams became usual, producing larger, 
geom etrically shaped fields.

By 1700, centuries of colonisation had left little more cultivatable wilderness 
to ciaim and continuity was more notable than change in the pattern of farm, 
field,hedgerow and shaw during the 18th and 19th centuries. Eventually,by 
means of ’Parliamentary enclosure' the landscape of hedged fields was 
extended across the remaining common pasturage such as Hookwood, Horley 
and Charlv^ood commons.
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